NO. 45971-0-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

BRIAN G. COX,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR THURSTON COURT The Honorable Gary R. Tabor, Judge Cause No. 13-1-0914-9

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

THOMAS E. DOYLE, WSBA NO. 10634 Attorney for Appellant

P.O. Box 510 Hansville, WA 98340 (360) 626-0148

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 01. The trial court erred in taking challenges for cause at sidebar during jury selection.
- 02. The trial court erred in not taking count III, violation of an order for protection, from the jury where it cannot be determined whether the verdict was unanimous.
- 03. The trial court erred in allowing prosecutorial misconduct during closing argument to deprive Cox of his constitutional due process right to a fair trial on the charge of solicitation of the murder of Lopez-Ortiz.
- 04. The trial court erred in permitting Cox to be represented by counsel who provided ineffective assistance by failing to object to the prosecutor's closing argument vis-à-vis the charge of solicitation of the murder of Lopez-Ortiz that vouched for Parmley's credibility.
- O5. The trial court erred in miscalculating Cox's offender score.
- 06. The trial court erred in permitting Cox to be represented by counsel who provided ineffective assistance by failing to object or by inviting error to the miscalculation of his offender score.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

01. Whether the trial court violated Cox's right to a public trial in taking challenges for cause at sidebar during jury selection? [Assignment of Error No. 1].

//

- 02. Whether a conviction for violation of an order for protection must be set aside where the prosecutor argued an uncharged means of committing the offense and it cannot be determined whether the jury was unanimous on the proper means of committing the offense.

 [Assignment of Error No. 2].
- 03. Whether the prosecutor committed misconduct by vouching for Parmley's credibility, which denied Cox a fair trial on the charge of solicitation of the murder of Lopez-Ortiz? [Assignment of Error No. 3].
- 04. Whether Cox was prejudiced as a result of his counsel's failure to object to the prosecutor's closing argument vis-à-vis the the charge of solicitation of the murder of Lopez-Ortiz that vouched for Parmley's credibility?

 [Assignment of Error No. 4].
- O5. Whether the sentencing court miscalculated Cox's offender score by including his current conviction for the gross misdemeanor of violation of order of protection to add a point to his offender score for his conviction for the solicitation of the murder of Lisa Cox? [Assignment of Error No. 5].
- 06. Whether Cox was prejudiced as a result of his counsel's failure to object or by inviting error to the miscalculation of his offender score where the court included his current conviction for the gross misdemeanor of violation of order of protection to add a point to his offender score for his conviction for the solicitation of the murder of Lisa Cox?

 [Assignment of Error No. 6].

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

01. Procedural Facts

Brian G. Cox was charged by third amended information filed in Thurston County Superior Court February 7, 2014, with two counts of criminal solicitation of murder in the first degree, counts I-II, and violation of an order for protection, count III, contrary to RCWs 9A.28.030, 9A.32.030(1)(a), 26.50.010, 26.50.060 and 26.50.070. Counts I and III further alleged domestic violence, in violation of RCW 10.99.020. [CP 20-21].

No pretrial motions were filed nor heard regarding either a CrR 3.5 or CrR 3.6 hearing. Trial to a jury commenced February 11, the Honorable Gary R. Tabor presiding. Cox was found guilty as charged, sentenced within his standard range, and timely notice of this appeal followed. [CP 74-77, 92, 105-115, 118].

//

//

//

//

//

02. Substantive Facts¹

02.1 <u>Count III: Violation of Protection Order -</u> Domestic Violence (03/25/13)

On March 21, 2013, an Order for Protection

was issued restraining Cox from harassing, following or having any contact whatsoever with his estranged wife Lisa. [RP 193-94; State's Exhibit 3 at 2].² Cox was in court and signed the order when it was entered. [RP 669; State's Exhibit 3 at 5]. Four days later, while honking his horn, he closely followed a car driven by his estranged wife for less than a block. [RP 153, 155, 178-79].

If I had stepped on my brakes at all, he'd have hit my car. That's how close he was.

[RP 152].

He was flipping me the bird.

[RP 153].

When contacted by the police on the day of the incident, Cox said that his wife was the first to honk and flip him off. [State's Exhibit 10 at 22-23]. He further noted that what he had done was

in response to frustration with (his estranged wife) because he felt he was provoked because she had slowed down to - the speed limit on Capitol Boulevard is 35 miles an hour.

¹ The counts are presented in non-sequential order for the purpose of simplifying the presentation of the case.

² All references to the Report of Proceedings are to the transcripts entitled JURY TRIAL – VOLUMES I-V.

He expressed that she had slowed down to 10 miles an hour prematurely, before he got to her residence, to agitate him, and had - - I mean, basically pumped her brakes and was provoking him, so he responded also by honking and flipping her off.

[State's Exhibit 10 at 12].

At trial, Cox explained that he did not tailgate nor ride his wife's back bumper [RP 674]:

I wasn't until she brake checked me that I - - what I believe she tried to cause me to crash into the back of her and that was when the vehicles actually came somewhat close.

. . . .

When she brake checked me and I slammed on the brakes, then she flipped me off and I took the lower road and flipped her off back and laid on the horn.

[RP 674]. He was stuck behind her for ten seconds before "she pulled on to her street." [RP 675].

The protection order allowed Cox to come within 500 feet of his wife's residence while driving on the road where the incident occurred if he was driving to or from work. [RP 195, 670; State's Exhibit 3 at 2; State's Exhibit 10 at 21].

02.2 <u>Count I: Solicitation for Murder of Lisa M.</u> Cox – Domestic Violence (05/14 – 06/11/13

Ramon Lopez-Ortiz and Cox worked at the

Washington State Department of Financial Institutions (DFI) since 2007 and maintained a professional relationship, though they rarely worked

together. [RP 275, 278, 687]. They hadn't talk to each other for over two years when they found themselves riding in the same elevator at DFI near the end of April 2013. [RP 279-280, 688]. Cox mentioned that he was "going through an ugly divorce." [RP 688]. As they exited the elevator, Cox revealed that he had a \$250,000 life insurance policy on his wife and that he would give Lopez-Ortiz half of it if he "would make his wife permanently disappear." [RP 281].

He just asked me if I wanted to do it or if I knew somebody, and I told him I didn't want to do it but I could probably find someone to do it.

[RP 283]. Troubled by the encounter, Lopez-Ortiz reported it to his program manager who in turn reported it to law enforcement. [RP 197, 261, 270-71, 288].

On June 6, Lopez-Ortiz called Cox at "his state-issued phone." [RP 299]. During the call, which was recorded by the police, Lopez-Ortiz asked Cox if he was serious about their prior conversation concerning his wife. When Cox asked if the call was being recorded, Lopez-Ortiz assured him it was not and that he was calling because he was in need of money. [State's Exhibit 7 at 2]. Cox indicated he had said many things in the past out of anger but suggested they meet in person to make sure they were talking about the same thing. [State's Exhibit 7 at 2]. Lopez-Ortiz reiterated he was in need of money, explaining he was "in debt with the

IRS" for several thousand dollars. [State's Exhibit 7 at 3]. Cox told him he was "willing to borrow money - I am willing to go into debt for you ... if you do this for me." [State's Exhibit 7 at 3]. He then laughed before the two ended the call by agreeing to meet the following week. [State's Exhibit 7 at 3-4]. In the interim, they exchanged several e-mails, and in response to Lopez-Ortiz's inquires as to whether Cox was really serious, Cox answered, saying they needed to talk to make sure they were on the same page. [RP 315; State's Exhibit 4].

Five days later the two met at DFI for about eight minutes. [RP 226-28, 313]. Lopez-Ortiz was wearing a wire and the conversation was audio-video recorded. [RP 322-33; State Exhibits 6 and 8]. It started with Cox admitting he had been pissed off and asking Lopez-Ortiz what he had previously told him. [State's Exhibit 8 at 1]. As the conversation continued, Cox asked Lopez-Ortiz if he was "fucking serious." [State's Exhibit 8 at 1]. Lopez-Ortiz responded with the same question. [State's Exhibit 8 at 1]. After patting Lopez-Ortiz down to see if he was wearing a wire, Cox said he was "totally serious" but no longer had access to the life insurance policy, commenting that he still wanted "that bitch dead" and that it was worth \$10,000, reasoning he was going to pay more as a result of the divorce. [State's Exhibit 8 at 1-2]. "Dude, we're talking murder here, man." [State's Exhibit 8 at 2]. They talked about Lopez-Ortiz finding

someone else to do it and that Cox had an "injury settlement" coming "that is worth six figures." [State's Exhibit 8 at 4].

Cox was taken into custody within the hour. [RP 232, 433, 451]. After advisement and waiver of rights [RP 47], he agreed to give a taped statement,³ wherein he denied trying to hire anyone to kill his estranged wife [RP 550-51, 557, 568], explaining that he didn't have any money and that she was attempting to destroy him [RP 547, 561, 578, 582]:

He told me (Detective Jennifer Kolb) that she had called the police on him four times, had called the FBI, had called him a terrorist. He told me that she was trying to get all his money and that he had made her some offers and she wouldn't take it.

[RP 549].

Prior to filing for divorce in January 2013, Cox had informed his wife of his intentions and that he would wait until she took care of some medical issues in order to keep her on his insurance. [RP 662-63, 666].

After he filed for divorce, the FBI interviewed him because his wife had said he "was going to fly (his) plane into a building and commit a terrorist act." [RP 667].

When confronted with his recorded conversations with Lopez-Ortiz, Cox said he wasn't serious, that doing such a thing would destroy

-8-

³ The first 40 minutes of his statement failed to record because the equipment had not been properly activated. [RP 559-560].

his career, and that Lopez-Ortiz was trying to set him up. [RP 557-58, 579-581]. He did admit, however, that he had talked to Lopez-Ortiz about hiring him to "slash tires." [RP 564-65].

At trial, Cox testified that when he met Lopez-Ortiz on the elevator, he could have possibly mentioned a life insurance policy, noting that if he had he wasn't serious. [RP 689].

We're exiting the elevator, and it was kind of like, hey, I got an insurance policy, I'll split it with you if you make her disappear, you know, ha, ha, wink wink, nudge nudge, walking off, and that's how I would have presented it.

[RP 690].

When Lopez-Ortiz called him on June 6, he started laughing, thinking

this must be one of his practical jokes trying to get back at me now. And so it sounded like I was on speaker phone so I'm going, are you serious, are you like recording this or something, trying to set me up, frame me? Oh, no uhn-uhn, uhn-unh.

. . . .

And he asked me if I was serious, and so I figured I was going to call his bluff and then I go yeah. I don't recall what I said, but yeah, whatever it was. I'm serious, yeah, what are you going to do.

[RP 691].

Regarding the June 11 meeting, Cox stated:

We didn't discuss any plan for anything in the future, to discuss anything again in the future. I was still trying to figure out if he was actually serious and do you want to do this, or if he was trying to set me up and frame me, or if it was just another sick joke and I was expecting people to jump back, gees, Brian, I can't believe you fell for it, that type of thing.

[RP 700]. Cox agreed that he used the word "murder" during this meeting because he "wanted to make sure it was clear that he (Lopez-Ortiz) was the one talking about it." [RP 754-55]. "I didn't say we're talking murder, I said you (Lopez-Ortiz) are." [RP 755].

02.3 <u>Count II: Solicitation for Murder of Ramon</u> Lopez-Ortiz (06/12 – 07/01/13)

While in custody in the Thurston County

Jail for the charge of first-degree robbery,⁴ 53-year-old Kenneth Parmley, who had five prior convictions for crimes of dishonesty, was a cellmate of Cox "from June 21st into July, towards the end of July." [RP 472-74]. According to Parmley, during this time Cox told him "he thought that he was - - he was going to be convicted unless something was done with (Lopez-Ortiz)." [RP 481]. "That the only chance he had was for Mr. Ortiz to disappear, as he put it." [RP 481].

- A. He asked if I knew anybody who or if I could - if I was out, if I could help him out with that.
- Q. Did he get any more specific on what "help him out" meant?
- A. To get rid of Mr. Ortiz.

⁴ Parmley eventually pleaded guilty to second-degree robbery. [RP 465].

-10-

[RP 482].

In "looking to get a break in (his) case(,)" Parmley said he played along, telling Cox "I couldn't do it myself but I knew somebody who could." [RP 482]. I told him this person "had a pig farm." [RP 487].

- Q. Where in the conversation did you first tell Mr. Cox about that?
- A. It would have come up when we were talking about disposing of the body.
- Q. And in your thought process, what's the importance of the pig farm?
- A. That they will pretty well eat everything, I guess.
- Q. Did you explain why that was important to Mr. Cox or did you have a discussion with him about that?
- A. No, he knew, I mean.
- Q. Did he seem surprised when you mentioned the pig farm?
- A. He kind of smiled actually.

[RP 487-88].

When Cox asked how much it would cost, Parmley told him it would be "in the neighborhood of \$20,000 [RP 485](,)" and Cox said that "was doable." [RP 492]. Once they were both bailed out, Cox was going to give him "some money to operate on to get up there and talk to the person who was going to do it." [RP 486].

[H]e wanted to try to figure out how to get me out of jail. I told him I needed to be out to really do it. I couldn't really do it over the phones, through the mail and be safe here.

[RP 483].

Parmley was housed in the same jail unit, D Tank, as were Cox and Sonny Borja. [RP 612]. And though he testified he had never talked with any inmates about how Cox was his ticket out of jail [RP 522], Borja testified to the contrary, relating that Parmley told him that Cox was

"going to be my (Parmley's) golden ticket out of here," and those were his exact words.

[RP 620]. Borja heard Parmley tell Cox that if he bailed him out, he'd take care of his wife for \$10,000, to which Cox responded:

[D]ude, no, I don't want -- Brian said "I don't want to pay anybody," he said, "I don't. I'm not -- that's why I'm in here. No, I don't want to do this," you know.

[RP 618].

Cox admitted that he and Parmley "discussed our cases while playing cards and whatnot [RP 716]," but denied ever asking him to eliminate any witness or offering to bail him or anyone else out of jail. [RP 715, 718-19]. "It was the exact opposite." [RP 713].

He's the one who was asking me and trying to get me to bail him out and to take care of my witnesses. He would use the term "no face, no case."

[RP 714].

I talked to him about my case, but it was him the whole time trying to get me to bail him out regarding solicitation.

[RP 786].

D. ARGUMENT

01. THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED
COX'S RIGHT TO A PUBLIC
TRIAL BY TAKING CHALLENGES FOR
CAUSE AT SIDEBAR DURING JURY
SELECTION.

Both the Sixth Amendment to the United States

Constitution and art. I, §§ 10 and 22 of the Washington Constitution guarantee criminal defendants the right to a public trial. State v. Russell, 141 Wn. App. 733, 737-38, 172 P.3d 361 (2007), reviewed denied, 164 Wn.2d 1020 (2008); Presley v. Georgia, 558 U.S. 209, 130 S. Ct. 721, 723, 175 L. Ed. 2d 675 (2010). This right is not, however, unconditional, and a trial court may close the courtroom in certain situations. State v. Easterling, 157 Wn.2d 167, 174-75, 137 P.3d 825 (2006). Such a closure may occur only after (1) properly conducting a balancing process of five factors and (2) entering specific findings on the record to justify so ruling. State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 258-59, 906 P.2d 325 (1995). A trial court's failure to conduct the required Bone-Club inquiry "results in a violation of the defendant's public trial rights." State v. Brightman, 155 Wn.2d 506, 515-16, 122 P.3d 150 (2005). In such a case, the defendant need show no prejudice; it is presumed. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d at 261-62.

Additionally, a defendant's failure to "lodge a contemporaneous objection" at the time of the exclusion does not amount to a waiver of his or her right to a public trial. Brightman, 155 Wn.2d at 514-15, 517. The remedy for such a violation is to reverse and remand for a new trial. In re Pers. Restraint of Orange, 152 Wn.2d 795, 814, 100 P.3d 291 (2004). This court reviews de novo the question of law of whether a defendant's right to a public trial has been violated. Brightman, 155 Wn.2d at 514; State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58, 70, 292 P.3d 715 (2012).

In <u>State v. Wilson</u>, 174 Wn. App. 328, 298 P.3d 148 (2013), this court, discussing <u>State v. Paumier</u>, 176 Wn.2d 29, 288 P.3d 1126 (2012), <u>State v. Wise</u>, 176 Wn.2d 1, 288 P.3d 1113 (2012), and <u>Sublett</u>, recognized that our Supreme Court has developed a two-step process for determining whether a particular proceeding implicates a defendant's public trial right:

First, does the proceeding fall within a specific category of trial proceedings that our Supreme Court has already established implicates the public trial right? Second, if the proceeding does not fall within such a specific category, does the proceeding satisfy <u>Sublett's</u> "experience and logic" test? (footnote omitted).

State v. Wilson, 174 Wn. App. at 335.

Given this court's acknowledgement in <u>Wilson</u>, 174 Wn. App. at 335-40, that the Washington Supreme Court has established that the public

trial right applies to jury selection, Cox addresses only whether the trial court violated his right to a public trial by taking challenges for cause at sidebar during jury selection. See State v. Wise, 176 Wn.2d at 11-12.

The record demonstrates that during the jury selection process several prospective jurors were excused for cause at sidebar:

> THE COURT: I'd like to make a record of a sidebar we had before we selected the jury. At that time, there were requests to excuse for cause No. 6, 40 and 43. The State did object to 43. They indicated in my thinking we were not going to reach 43 anyway and we did not, but I granted the challenges for cause for each of those three, 6, 40 and 43.

Does anybody need to put anything else on the record in that regard?⁵

(PROSECUTOR): Your Honor, just to be specific, I think with 6 and 40, it was actually the state that made the request, made the motion, but I think they might have been agreed or stipulated by defense, but I think just for technicality purposes that was –

THE COURT: That's right. It was you that made the objection.

(DEFENSE COUNSEL): And I agree. It was the state that made the strike for cause and I did not object to either one.

THE COURT: All right. And then we discussed excusing jurors for hardship and counsel did not object to our excusing No. 9, who had indicated that he had job responsibilities and that would make it difficult for him to concentrate. There was also the issue about his coworker.

⁵ This was put on the record at the conclusion of the jury selection process. [RP 126-27; CP 59-601.

He was the boss of the boss of the coworker seated next to him, No. 10. But we excused No. 9 for hardship.

We also excused No. 12, the lady whose sister was ill, that she might have to travel to New Mexico if there was a worsening of her condition. So they were stricken for hardship.

Is there anything else I need to memorialize about any sidebars or actions outside the record?

[RP 126-27].

In <u>State v. Love</u>, 176 Wn. App. 911, 309 P.3d 1209 (2013), where the issue was whether Love's right to a public trial was violated because the trial court entertained peremptory challenges at the clerk's station, Division III of this court held that the public trial right does not attach to the exercises of challenges during jury selection, reasoning that neither "prong of the experience and logic test suggests that the exercise of cause or peremptory challenges must take place in pubic." <u>Id.</u> at 920. This court tracked this analysis when confronted with the same issue in <u>State v.</u>

<u>Dunn</u>, ___ Wn. App. ___, 321 P.3d 1283 (2014):

We agree with Division III that experience and logic do not suggest that exercising peremptory challenges at the clerk's station implicates the public trial right.

<u>Id</u>. at 1285.6

-

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