# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

BRIAN G. COX,

Appellant.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Gary R. Tabor, Judge Cause No. 13-1-0914-9

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

Carol La Verne Attorney for Respondent

2000 Lakeridge Drive S.W. Olympia, Washington 98502 (360) 786-5540

##

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

particular process in question." <u>Id</u>. If both questions are answered in the affirmative, the public trial right attaches and the trial court must consider the <u>Bone-Club</u> factors before closing the proceeding to the public. <u>Id</u>.

The experience and logic test was formulated to determine whether the core values of the right to a public trial are implicated. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d at 73. The right to a public trial exists to "ensure a fair trial, to remind the officers of the court of the importance of their functions, to encourage witnesses to come forward, and to discourage perjury." State v. Brightman, 155 Wn.2d 506, 514, 122 P.3d 150 (2005) (citing to federal cases). The harms associated with a closed trial have been identified as:

[T]he inability of the public to judge for itself and to reinforce by its presence the fairness of the process, . . . . the inability of the defendant's family to contribute their knowledge or insight to the jury selection, and the inability of the venirepersons to see the interested individuals.

<u>In re Pers. Restraint of Orange</u>, 152 Wn.2d 795, 812, 100 P.3d 291 (2004)

Applying that test, the <u>Sublett</u> court held that no violation of the right to a public trial occurred when the court considered a jury question in chambers.

There is no dispute that the sidebars at issue in this trial occurred in the courtroom and the courtroom was open. Cox offers no authority, nor can the State find any, to show that sidebars have not historically been conducted out of the hearing of the jurors and spectators. That is the whole purpose of the sidebar—so that the jury does not hear the discussion, and if the jurors cannot hear, neither can the spectators. The alternative would be to excuse the jury each time some issue needed to be addressed outside of its presence.

In the case of sidebar discussions, issues arising with the jury present would always require interrupting trial to send the jury to the jury room, often located some distance from the courtroom, thereby occasioning long delays every time the court wishes to caution counsel or hear more than a simple "objection, Your Honor." This would do nothing to make the trial more fair, to foster public trust, or to serve as a check on judges by way of public scrutiny.

<u>Ticeson</u>, 159 Wn.2d at 386, n. 38. Sidebars do not violate any of the core values of the public trial right.

In <u>State v. Love</u>, 176 Wn. App. 911, 309 P.3d 1209 (2013), the Court of Appeals assumed, without deciding, that a sidebar conference constituted a closure. <u>Id</u>. at 917. In that case, challenges for cause to the jury venire had been held at a sidebar. <u>Id</u>. at 915. Applying the <u>Sublett</u> experience and logic test, the court

concluded that it was not error to handle challenges at a sidebar.

Despite its earlier assumption, the court held that "[t]he sidebar conference did not close the courtroom." Id. at 920.

The court in <u>Love</u> further explained that the written record of the challenges to potential jurors satisfied the public interest in monitoring the integrity of trials.<sup>2</sup> <u>Love</u>, 176 Wn. App. at 919-20. This court adopted the reasoning of the <u>Love</u> court and held that the public trial right does not attach to challenges during jury selection. <u>State v. Dunn</u>, 180 Wn. App. 570, 575, 321 P.3d 1283 (2014).<sup>3</sup>

Cox argues that <u>Dunn</u> and <u>Love</u> were wrongly decided. Appellant's Opening Brief at 17. He cites to <u>State v. Wilson</u>, 174 Wn. App. 328, 298 P.3d 148 (2013); <u>Strode</u>, 167 Wn.2d 222; and <u>State v. Wise</u>, 176 Wn.2d 1, 288 P.3d 1113 (2012), to support his argument that challenges to potential jurors in the venire must be made in such a manner that the spectators may hear them. In <u>Strode</u>, the court held that it was error to hold a portion of voir dire in the judge's chambers without conducting the <u>Bone-Club</u> analysis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In Cox's case, a record of the sidebar challenges was made in open court. RP 126-27

A petition for review was filed in <u>Dunn</u>, No. 90238-1; consideration of that petition was stayed on August 5, 2014, pending a decision in <u>State v. Smith</u>, No. 85809-8.

It did not specifically address challenges either for cause or peremptory challenges, although challenges for cause were also made and decided in chambers. Strode, 167 Wn.2d at 224, 231. In Wise, ten potential jurors were questioned in chambers, and six were excused for cause, but the opinion does not specify whether the challenges were also heard and decided in chambers. Id. at 7-8. In Wilson, two jurors were excused by the bailiff, before voir dire began, because they were ill. Wilson, 174 Wn. App. at 332. The court distinguished between this situation and "for-cause excusals or peremptory challenges traditionally exercised during voir dire in the courtroom." Id. at 344. The distinction in these cases, then, is between what happens in chambers and what happens in the courtroom that has not been closed to the public, or between prevoir dire jury selection and voir dire.

Cox does not claim that the courtroom was closed to the public, only that the challenges to the jury venire were made at a sidebar where the public could not hear what was being said. He points to <u>State v. Slert</u>, 169 Wn. App. 766, 774 n. 11, 282 P.3d 101 (2012), where this court remarked in a footnote that "if a side-bar conference was used to dismiss jurors, the discussion would have involved dismissal of jurors for case-specific reasons and, thus,

was a portion of jury selection held outside Slert's and the public's purview." Id. However, in Slert's case the challenged conduct had occurred in chambers, Id. at 775, and the footnote is dicta. Dunn was decided two years later and specifically held that it was not error to conduct challenges to the venire at sidebar. Since Cox filed his opening brief, this court has decided State v. Webb, No. 43179-3-II (August 26, 2014). In that case, the parties exercised peremptory challenges by passing back and forth a sheet of paper. The court relied on Love and Dunn to find that this procedure did not violate the defendant's right to a public trial. Webb, slip op. at 3.

During the evidentiary portion of Cox's trial, there were several sidebars. RP 171, 186, 343, 387, 406, 465, 585, 657, 710, and 786. Cox has not assigned error to those or argued that they violated his right to a public trial. There seems to be no reason to conclude that challenges to potential jurors at sidebar constitute a courtroom closure and other sidebars do not.

A sidebar is not a closure of the courtroom. Because it is not a closure, there is no requirement for the court to conduct a <u>Bone-Club</u> analysis. The cases to which Cox cites do not support an argument that the court was wrong when it decided either <u>Love</u> or

<u>Dunn</u>, and the holding of those cases should be followed in this appeal.

2. <u>Violation of a protection order is not an alternative</u> means offense. The prosecutor did not argue an uncharged means of committing the crime.

Cox asserts that the prosecutor argued an uncharged means of committing the crime of violation of a protection order, depriving him of a unanimous jury as to the basis of the conviction. Appellant's Opening Brief at 18-22. This is not an alternative means crime.

RCW 26.50.060(1) contains a list of behaviors which a court may order a respondent to refrain from doing. Pertinent to this case, those behaviors are:

- (1) Upon notice and after hearing, the court may provide relief as follows:
- (a) Restrain the respondent from committing acts of domestic violence;
- (b) Exclude the respondent from the dwelling that the parties share, from the residence, workplace, or school of the petitioner, or from the day care or the school of a child;
- (c) Prohibit the respondent from knowingly coming within, or knowingly remaining within, a specified distance from a specified location;

. . . .

(f) Order other relief as it deems necessary for the protection of the petitioner and other family or household members sought to be protected; (h) Restrain the respondent from having any contact with the victim of domestic violence or the victim's children or members of the victim's household:

(i) Restrain the respondent from harassing, following, keeping under physical or electronic surveillance, cyberstalking . . . .

The violation of some of the conditions of a protection order are punishable as such, gross misdemeanors unless there is an assault in violation of a protection order or if the offender has two or more prior convictions for violating protection orders. RCW 26.50.110 (1)(a), (4), and (5). It is a crime to violate:

- (i) The restraint provisions prohibiting acts or threats of violence against, or stalking of, a protected party, or restraint provisions prohibiting contact with the protected party;
- (ii) A provision excluding the person from a residence, workplace, school, or day care;
- (iii) A provision excluding the person from knowingly coming within, or knowingly remaining within, a specified distance of a location;
- (iv) A provision prohibiting interfering with the protected party's efforts to remove a pet owned, possessed, leased, kept, or held by the petitioner, respondent, or a minor child residing with either the petitioner or the respondent; or
- (v) A provision of a foreign protection order specifically indicating that a violation will be a crime.

RCW 26.50.110(1)(a).

There was a protection order in place at the time of the offense. It restrained Cox in six different ways, including prohibiting harassment of the petitioner or having any contact whatsoever with her. Exhibit 3 at 2.

The State charged Cox with violation of a protection order, domestic violence, using the following language:

In that the defendant, BRIAN GLENN COX, in the State of Washington, on or about March 25, 2013, with knowledge that the Thurston County Superior Court had previously issued a protection order pursuant to Chapter 26.50 in Thurston County Superior Court on March 21, 2013, Cause No. 13-2-30027-1, did violate the order while the order was in effect by knowingly violating (1)(a)(i) the restraint provisions prohibiting contact with Lisa Marie Cox, a family or household member, pursuant to RCW 10.99.020; and/or (ii) a provision excluding the person from a residence, workplace, school, or day care of Lisa Marie Cox.

CP 21.

The jury was instructed about the elements of the crime of violation of a protection order.

To convict the defendant of the crime of violation of a protection order, as charged in Count III, each of the following elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

(1) That on or about March 25, 2013, there existed a protection order applicable to the defendant;

- (2) That the defendant knew of the existence of this order:
- (3) That on or about said date, the defendant knowingly violated a restraint provision of the order prohibiting contact with a protected party or a provision of the order excluding the person from a residence, school, workplace, or daycare; and
- (4) That the defendant's acts occurred in the State of Washington.

Instruction No. 16, CP 88.

There was no evidence presented that Cox had been in one of the places from which he was excluded, and in closing argument the prosecutor acknowledged that. RP 854-855. Then he said, "I would submit to you there's actually two parts of this order that were violated and we talked about the contact." RP 855. After some discussion about what constitutes communication, the prosecutor said:

The other provision of the order I would submit to you that was violated is provision—and you'll see the order right above the one that says no contact, and it lists a bunch of other things that the defendant is not allowed to do. And first among those in the list is harass Lisa Cox. Again, this is a definition that we don't give you. It's up to you to determine what is harassment behavior.

. . . .

You have someone . . . . [who] admittedly was honking, admittedly displayed his middle finger, and admittedly was yelling at her. Is that harassing behavior? I would submit to you that it is.

RP 857.

Cox maintains that the prosecutor argued an uncharged alternative means of committing the crime of violation of a protection order because he referenced two different provisions of the order. But the alternative means doctrine applies to the statute, not an order issued pursuant to a statute. In <u>State v. Smith</u>, 159 Wn.2d 778, 154 P.3d 873 (2007), a case involving second degree assault statute, the court said,

In absence of legislative intent to the contrary, we limit the reach of the alternative means doctrine to those alternative means directly provided for by the assault statutes. Accordingly, we do not apply the doctrine, as Smith urges us to do, to a mere jury instruction setting forth the common law definitions of "assault" as that term is used throughout the charging statutes in chapter 9A.36 RCW.

ld. at 789-90.

The legislature has not defined alternative means crimes, nor has it labeled specific crimes as alternative means offenses. Lacking a "bright-line rule," courts must decide on a case by case basis whether a statute is an alternative means crime. State v. Peterson, 168 Wn.2d 763, 769, 230 P.3d 588 (2010) (citing to State v. Klimes, 117 Wn. App. 758, 769, 73 P.3d 416 (2003).

"[T]he use of the disjunctive 'or' in a list of methods of committing the crime does not necessarily create alternative means of committing the crime." State v. Owens, 180 Wn.2d 90, 96, 323 P.3d 1030 (2014). Another consideration is the variety of actions that could constitute the crime. Id. at 97.

In Owens, the court held that the statute prohibiting trafficking in stolen property<sup>4</sup> is an alternative means crime, but it contains only two alternatives, even though the language of the statute includes eight specific behaviors. The court found that seven of them all relate to facilitating or participating in theft of property with the intent of selling it, while the eighth relates to actually transferring property. Owens, 180 Wn.2d at 97-99. In Peterson, the court found that the failure to register as a sex offender statute was not an alternative means crime because, although there were three ways to prove failure to register, the crime was moving from his residence without notice. Peterson, 168 Wn.2d at 770.

The State maintains that the statute in this case, RCW 25.50.110, provides for one offense—violating any listed condition

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> RCW 9A.82.050.

of the protection order.<sup>5</sup> There are five specific provisions of the protection order listed, and the violation of any one constitutes the crime, but the underlying crime is violating the order. When there are alternatives that may be characterized as "a means within a means," the alternative means doctrine is not applicable. <u>Smith</u>, 159 Wn.2d at 783.

Even if Cox were correct, however, that this is an alternative means offense statute, the prosecutor's argument did not contend that that there was any violation not involving contact. While he did assert that the contact also constituted harassment, it was still contact, and both the charging document and the jury instructions specified that Cox had had contact with the victim in violation of the order. The jury could not have been confused about what conduct the prosecutor was claiming was criminal. It was clear that he was talking about one and only one incident, during which Cox tailgated his wife's car, honked the horn, made an obscene gesture, and yelled at her. RP 855-57. Cox would not be denied a unanimous verdict, or convicted of an alternative means that was not charged and instructed, unless some or all of the jurors concluded the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>RCW 26.50.110(1)(a) does not specifically make harassment of the victim a violation of the statute, although "prohibiting acts or threats of violence" would likely fall into that category. RCW 26.50.110(1)(a)(i). Harassment is, of course, a separate crime under chapter 9A.46 RCW.

incident was harassment without contact, which is highly unlikely. Error, if such it was, was harmless. An error is harmless "unless, within reasonable probabilities, had the error not occurred, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected." State v. Smith, 106 Wn.2d 772, 780, 725 P.2d 951 (1986) (quoting State v. Cunningham, 93 Wn.2d 823, 831, 613 P.2d 1139 (1980)).

- 3. The prosecutor did not vouch for the credibility of a State witness. He quite properly argued circumstances which spoke to the witness's credibility. Cox's attorney did not provide deficient representation by failing to object.
- a. The prosecutor's argument was proper.

Cox argues that the prosecutor, in rebuttal, improperly vouched for the credibility of Kenneth Parmley, a State-witness. Appellant's Opening Brief at 22-26. In context, the prosecutor's argument, in part, was as follows.

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